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Questions and Answers No. 1 

Request for Proposal DOIT-FY-2016-08 
Enterprise Budgeting System Replacement Project 

 
Ladies/Gentlemen: 

This list of questions and responses is being issued to clarify certain information contained in the above 
referenced RFP.  Nothing in the State’s response to these questions is to be construed as agreement to or 
acceptance by the State of any statement or interpretation on the part of the vendor. 

1) Where was the funding for the system allocated?  The agency budget? 

RESPONSE: The program is funded as a Major Information Technology Development 
Project (MITDP) through DoIT. 

2) Which vendor provided the current system?  

RESPONSE: HOBO is based on IBM ADRS (A Departmental Reporting System) Version 
2.  The file layout is APLDI.  HOBO is capable of addressing 5MB RAM.  The last major 
system update was in 1982.     

3) Would the Department consider amending Section 2.1.1, Offeror Capabilities, so that the 20,000 
employee size requirement does not apply to the public sector example that an Offeror must provide 
as proof of its capabilities?  There are many factors that determine the comparability and complexity 
of public sector enterprise budgeting system implementations.  Focusing on number of employees 
alone may unnecessarily eliminate qualified vendors who have implemented government entities’ 
budgeting systems that are just as complex as the State of Maryland’s requirements, but those 
government entities may have had just under 20,000 employees. 

RESPONSE: The State has considered this request, but it has determined that it will not 
amend Section 2.1 of the RFP.     

4) Is there a requirement for the prime contractor to be based in Maryland? 

RESPONSE: No, the prime contractor is not required to be based in Maryland.  However, 
the prime must be registered to do business in Maryland.  In addition, there is a requirement 
that the key personnel work on-site in Annapolis, MD.    

5) Can one of the corporate qualifications come from a teaming partner? 

RESPONSE: No, the minimum qualifications stated in Section 2.1 of the RFP may not be 
met by a subcontractor or teaming partner.       
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6) Service Levels in terms of interfaces, is there analysis on the timing of interfaces? 

RESPONSE: None of the interfaces are expected to be real-time.  

7)  Regarding pricing and location of the team - if the team decides to utilize their own space but has 
costs to augment their network for example, is that an “other cost”? 

RESPONSE: No.  Key personnel are required to be on-site.  Non-key personnel may work 
off-site and all such costs shall be included in the fully-loaded hourly rate.        

8)  Is there a contractor that is supporting budgeting currently or is it in-house? 

RESPONSE: No, a contractor is not currently supporting the budgeting system.  Support 
is provided “in-house”.  

9) Key personnel resumes will be included but what about non-key? 

RESPONSE: Resumes for non-key personnel are not required at this time.   

10) Do we know the formats of the interface files and have POCs been identified? 

RESPONSE:  The State’s team will provide this information at the project kickoff after 
award.    

11) Deliverables – price sheet – how will the payments be made – against deliverables that are in the 
RFP, or those that are defined by the vendor? 

RESPONSE: Offerors must define the deliverables within the price sheet and the State will 
make payments accordingly. We are relying on the wisdom of industry experts to tell us how 
you best deliver your solution and how often you need to be paid.   

12) Training and the number of end users – what is the number to plan for? 

RESPONSE: Please see Section 3.5.3.2 of the RFP and plan to train 1,000 end-users.  

13)  Minimum qualifications for the company – 3 organizations, 1 of which must be state and local? Is 
there flexibility in that number? Can you discuss how we got to that number of 20,000 employees 
as a minimum? Is there leeway? 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Question #3.      

14)  What does the number of people in the state have to do with the budget capability? 

RESPONSE: The State determined that the number of employees in the State of Maryland 
has a direct relation to budget capability.  Please note that the State employees over 84,000 
people.       
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15) What hours of support are we looking for help desk support? 

RESPONSE: Please see Section 3.10.9.     

16)  Section 3.5.2.1 – Product Roadmap – 5 year – many packages have a release schedule and may not 
be 5 years out. What is the State’s expectation? 

RESPONSE: Offerors should provide all information that is relevant and available at the 
time of submitting a proposal.  

17) Who will provide the architecture review to look at performance characteristics/recommendations? 

RESPONSE: DoIT has not indicated the need for an architectural review but reserves the 
right to do so.  DoIT will perform a security review.  The State requests that Offerors advise of 
the solution’s performance capabilities and how they will be measured.  

18) Will there be an opportunity to benchmark and adjust with SLAs? 

RESPONSE: Yes.  Please see Section 3.5.2.2, item 6.  

19) Is there a legacy mainframe component? 

RESPONSE: Yes.  HOBO is based on IBM ADRS (A Departmental Reporting System) 
Version 2.  The file layout is APLDI.  HOBO is capable of addressing 5MB RAM.  IBM 
Bookmaster is also used by HOBO. 

FMIS/R*STARS is also mainframe based and does provide a DB2 database that is updated 
daily. 

20) Will the State be posting a list of attendees? 

RESPONSE: Yes, a list of attendees to the pre-proposal conference was posted on 
September 29, 2015. 

21) In order to spend the amount of time necessary to give Maryland a comprehensive response 
detailing the best possible solution, we are requesting a 2-3 week extension for the Enterprise 
Budgeting System Replacement RFP. 

RESPONSE: Please see Amendment #1.  The State will extend the due date for proposals 
to November 3, 2015. 

22) Please further clarify the statement “Note: Items marked with an “(N)” are functionality that the 
State considers “nice to have but highly desirable.”  All others are required for the proposed 
solution.” Are these items “Highly Desirable” or just “Nice to Have”? 

RESPONSE: The items marked with an “N” are highly desirable.  
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23) For on-going training of new employees is the Department setting up a “train the trainer” approach 
to ensure that sufficient state trainers are part of the 1,000 individuals the vendor is training? Or is 
DoIT expecting the Vendor to provide this on-going training as part of its O&M support? 

RESPONSE: The State expects the vendor to provide on-going training as part of the 
O&M support.  Please see Section 3.5.3.2, item 7. 

24) Does the response to Attachment W / Requirements Matrix count towards the 60 page maximum 
limit for Tab E?  If so, will the Department consider raising the maximum page limit for Tab E to 
100 pages since Attachment W, without any responses, is 23 pages in the RFP, and RFP Sections 
3.5, 3,6,  and 3,10 (each section requires responses to all items) are a combined 29 pages, without 
any responses, in the RFP? 

RESPONSE: Attachment W does not count toward the page limit. 

25) There are several discrepancies regarding RFP Requirements 4.2.2.O / Sample Work 
Products,  4.2.2.P / Additional Technical Required Documents, and 4.2.2.Q / Sample Documents 
when comparing the table following Requirement 4.2.2 on pages 89-90 against the narratives for 
Requirements, Requirements 4.2.2.16-18, on page 96. Requirement 4.2.2.O, on page 90, states Tab 
O should include "Sample Work Products" as requested in Tab E, "See 4.2.3".  There is no section 
4.2.3 in the RFP.  Requirement 4.2.2.16, on page 96 of the RFP, differs from Requirement 4.2.2.O 
on page 90 and states Tab O should contain various attachments (attachments B, D-1A, G-1, I, M-
1, N and Q). RFP requirement 4.2.2.P on page 90 of the RFP states Additional Required Technical 
Submissions should be included after Tab P and to "See 4.2.4".  There is no section 4.2.4 in the 
RFP. RFP requirement 4.2.2.Q states "Sample Documents as required by Section 3.5.3.1". RFP 
requirement 4.2.2.18, on page 96 states "Draft Documents and Deliverables" should be included 
under Tab R.  There is no mention of Tab R in the table following Requirement 4.2.2.   Also 
Requirement 4.2.2.18 on Page 96 states "The Offeror shall include draft copies of all documents 
requested in Sections 3.4.5, 3.5, 3.6, and 3.10 under Tab Q".  This differs from requirement 
4.2.2.Q on page 90 which states Tab Q should be titled "Sample Documents as required by Section 
3.5.3.1". Can the Department please clarify what Titles are associated with tabs O, P, Q, and R (if 
there should be a Tab R) along with a description of what documents should be included for each 
of the aforementioned Tabs. 

RESPONSE: Please see Amendment #1, which will address these discrepancies.  Section 
4.2.3 should read "See 4.2.2.18".  Section 4.2.4 should read "See 4.2.2.16". Please follow the 
instructions for 4.2.2.16-18 on page 96 and ignore the inconsistencies in the table on page 90 
for those three sections.  Mark 4.2.2.18 as Tab Q.  Also, note that there are no page limits for 
sections O, P and Q. 

26) RFP requirement 4.2.2.2 states the Claim of Confidentiality document should be included after the 
Title Page and before the table of contents.  However, the order of the RFP requirements (Section 
4.2.2) seems to indicate it should be included after the title page and table of contents as Tab A-
1.  Can you please clarify, should the Claim of Confidentiality be included in Tab A, in between 
the Title Page and Table of Contents, or after Tab A-1?  Also, should there be a Tab A-1? 
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RESPONSE: The claim of confidentiality should be included within Tab A after the table 
of contents.  Please do not include a Tab A-1. 

27) [In regard to Section 4.2.2.7 of the RFP] Are letters of intended commitment to work on this 
project excluded from the 3 page limit for this tab? 

RESPONSE:   Yes. 

28)  There are two Attachment D-1As (MDOT Certified MBE Utilization and Fair Solicitation 
Affidavit) on pages 138 and 141 of the RFP.  Can the Department confirm if both documents on 
pages 138 and 141 should be included under requirement 4.2.2.16. 

RESPONSE: Offerors are required to complete both documents labeled Attachment D-1A 
and submit them with the proposal. 

29) Regarding the number of copies for requirement 4.2.2.16, the RFP states "For email submissions, 
submit one (1) copy of each with original signatures.  For paper submissions, submit two (2) 
copies of each with original signatures." Regarding paper copies of the Technical Proposal, RFP 
requirement 4.4.1, on page 97 of the RFP, states vendors should submit "an unbound original, and 
eight (8) copies".   RFP requirement 4.4.2 states vendors must submit an electronic version of the 
Technical Proposal.  Can you please confirm for requirement 4.2.2.16, is it acceptable to submit 
nine hard copies (eight bound and one unbound with original signatures) and one electronic copy? 

RESPONSE: Please see Amendment #1 for revisions to Section 4.2.2.16.  Email 
submissions will not be accepted.  Offerors are required to submit one unbound original, eight 
bound copies, and one electronic version of the proposal. 

30) To facilitate the incremental printing of the proposal as sections go final, is it permissible to 
sequentially number Tabs; for example A-1, A-2, B-1, B-2 etc. rather than sequentially page 
numbering the entire proposal? 

RESPONSE:    Yes. 

31) Is it permissible to use less than a 12 point for tables, callouts and graphics? 

RESPONSE: Please use no less than 10-point for tables and 8-point for callouts and 
graphics. 

32) Can bidders assume that we will have access to printers, copiers and internet access to go along 
with the office space being provided by the Department? 

RESPONSE: Yes. 

33) Will the Department be responsible for ensuring that its desktops/laptops and tablets stay current 
with the latest O/S patches and security updates? 
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RESPONSE: Yes. 

34) Can the Department please confirm the Federal Government source being used to verify VSBE 
status? Is it the Department of Veteran’s Affairs? 

RESPONSE: Yes, the State will use the U.S. Department of Veteran’s Affairs VSBE 
registry. 

35) Does the Department have a Master Data Management tool or strategy in place, or a preferred 
solution? 

RESPONSE: The State does not have a Master Data Management tool, nor a preferred 
solution. 

36) Which specific financial and non-financial master data does the Department expect to manage in 
the Master Data solution? 

RESPONSE: The Chart of Accounts hierarchy, budgets, actual expenditures, personnel 
data including positions, incumbents, vacancies, benefits and bargaining unit association. 

37) Will there be any requirements to access HOBO for data? 

RESPONSE: There is not a requirement to access HOBO on an on-going basis.  However, 
HOBO data (especially historical data) may be required for conversion. 

38) Are any functional changes or redefinitions required to the MFR’s as currently incorporated in the 
MFR/Budget process? 

RESPONSE: No 

39) Does the Department envision capturing and reporting MFRs at a level lower than agency, or 
across agencies at a state-wide level? 

RESPONSE: The State will capture and report MFRs at both levels. 

40) Can the Department define or clarify what it means by the requirement to convert detailed 
transactions from the accounting system. 

RESPONSE: Current 'actuals' must be imported from R*STARS and potentially the other 
accounting systems on an on-going basis.  This may be daily or weekly.  The State's project 
team is assuming that some data conversion (i.e. crosswalk) will be required.  For example, it 
is unlikely that the internal data structures for FMIS/R*STARS, Kuali and SAP, are 
identical, even if they all reflect the same Chart of Accounts. 

41) How are the detailed transactions used in the formulation of the budget? 
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RESPONSE: They provide additional context for the analysts to make decisions. 

42) How will the data from capital projects used in the solution be consolidated with capital from 
CBIS? 

RESPONSE: There is no requirement for consolidation.  The only requirement regarding 
CBIS is to capture out-year operating costs for projects in CBIS. 

43) Can the Department provide 2-3 examples of recent decision packages and how they are used in 
the current budget process? 

RESPONSE: We cannot provide recent examples, since these are subject to Executive 
Privilege. The decision packages are originally requests from an agency for additional 
funding. The requests are analyzed by the analysts in Office of Budget Analysis and then 
discussed with management of DBM and often with staff of the Governor's Office. 
There are samples in the budget instructions link included in the paragraph above the table. 
http://dbm.maryland.gov/budget/Documents/operbudget/2017-instructions/FormSamples.pdf 

44) Will budget inputs be required to be input to a standard budget chart of accounts definition or will 
the chart of accounts vary and be unique for each of the source financial systems? 

RESPONSE: A standard budget Chart of Accounts will be used.  However, some agencies 
will continue to use agency sub-objects and must be able to enter data at that additional level 
of detail.  Each agency sub-object maps to a comptroller sub-object. 

45) Does the Department support a Service Oriented Architecture? 

RESPONSE: There is not a State-wide or shared service SOA infrastructure. 

46) Will the Department accept criminal background checks conducted within the past 12 months? 

RESPONSE: The Department will accept criminal background checks conducted in the 
last 3 months. 

47) Will the student data requested in the Institutional Profile report be available from the accounting 
system? 

RESPONSE: No. 

48) Outline ID 8.2 "User Interface Customization" is indicated as “Required” but all the four sub-
requirements (8.2.1, 8.2.2, 8.2.3 and 8.2.4) are “Desired”. Is any of the sub-requirement 
“Required” or is the main requirement “Desired”? 

RESPONSE: A customizable user interface is "Required", but the specifically listed 
modifications to the user interface are "Desired". 
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49) Is it required that non-key staff have resumes in the proposals or is this only for key staff? 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Question #9. 

50) As a sub, can we propose with multiple primes for this RFP? 

RESPONSE: Yes. 

51) Due to the details and attachments required, would the State consider an extension to the proposal 
due date?  If so, would you grant a 15 day extension? 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Question #21. 

52) Would the State consider providing your Chart of Accounts layout and field definitions prior to 
award? 

RESPONSE: The Chart of Accounts is published on the Comptroller's web site.  See also: 
http://comptroller.marylandtaxes.com/Government_Services/State_Accounting_Information/
Accounting_Procedures/Accounting_Procedures_Manual.shtml 

53) The State specifies the use of Rational CLM, are any other components of the Rational suite that 
will be made available to the Contractor for use? 

RESPONSE: The State currently has Rational Team Concert, Rational Quality Manager, 
and Rational Requirements Composer and they will be made available to the contractor. 

54) Is there a Steering committee, if so who are the members and what is the Contractor’s 
responsibility in support of it? 

RESPONSE: The Executive Steering Committee membership is shown on page 45 of the 
RFP.  The Offeror's project manager may be invited to attend the ESC meetings, but is not a 
voting member.  The vendor has no specific responsibilities in regards to the ESC. 

55) Reference 1.23.1 Key Personnel:  With respect to “B. Subject Matter Expert (Budgeting & 
Performance Management)”, and paragraph “2. Subject Matter Expertise: Detailed design, 
requirements traceability and effective test cases”.   Please clarify and expand on the “Performance 
Management” aspect of the position and expectations of the State. 

RESPONSE: In reference to RFP Section 1.23.1 "Budgeting & Performance 
Management" refers to the general business area that business and industry analysts call the 
tasks that the Office of Budget Analysis does.  We expect the subject matter expert proposed 
by the Offeror to be knowledgeable in the field and be able to help OBA design and 
implement process improvements.  The tasks in the second paragraph are specific focus areas 
that we expect the resource to be able to spear-head. 
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56)  Reference 1.23.6, regarding substitution of key personnel within 30 days of award.  This provision 
indicates that originally proposed Key staff must be actual full-time personnel directly employed 
with the Offeror.  Please clarify if all proposed Key Personnel under 1.23.1 must be full-time 
employees of the Offeror, and cannot be employees of a proposed Subcontractor. 

RESPONSE: Please see Amendment #1.  Section 1.23.6 has been revised to address this 
concern. 

57) Reference 2.1 Minimum Qualifications, Section 2.1.1 requires:  Offeror capabilities: The Offeror 
shall have implemented enterprise budgeting systems within the last five (5) years for at least three 
(3) different organizations of significant size. At least one example used as proof must be public 
sector.  The definition of “significant size” in 2.1 is an entity with at least 20,000 employees.  
While the measure of the number of employees within an organization might be an appropriate 
metric for scaling systems designed around supporting employee based transactions (such as an 
HR system), the measure of employee count would not appear to be directly relevant to scaling the 
operations for an enterprise budget system.  For example, a 20,000 employee company or agency 
may only have a $4-5B budget, where other state agencies or companies with fewer than 1000 
employees could have $8-10B or higher budgets that they develop, maintain, and execute.  The 
number of employees does not necessarily reflect the volume or complexity of the public budget 
process and transactions, such as: cost allocations to support a Medicaid Department reporting to 
CMS, the grants management and reporting process, or the negotiations inherent in the legislative 
process.  Would the State consider revising this requirement? (definition of “significant size” to 
relate to budget value and transactions in lieu of number of employees), or adding an alternative 
qualifier based on a relevant budgeting process metric, such as; “for at least three (3) different 
organizations where budget system implementations supported budget development and execution 
equal to or greater than $5B dollars”. 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Question #3. 

58) [In regard to RFP Section 3.3.5] Will an interface need to be developed to accept/send data to 
WebFocus? 

RESPONSE: There is no requirement for a WebFocus interface. 

59) [In regard to RFP Section 3.4.5.2] Requires that the Offeror price individual software modules 
separately.  Please clarify the State’s use and definition of the term “module” as it applies to 
pricing. 

RESPONSE: The Offeror's solution may require that the State purchase an operating 
system, a database management system, an ETL tool, a reporting system and the core 
budgeting tool.  Those must be listed separately.  In addition, if the budgeting tool has 
different Offeror-defined modules (e.g. Personnel , Operating, Capital, etc.) the Offeror must 
list all such modules that are required for the proposed solution. 

60) [In regard to RFP Section 3.4.5.3] The State also requires that the Offeror provide fully functional, 
generally available software and multiple-user licenses for purchase as needed throughout the life of 
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the Contract.  Please confirm the State desires “multiple-user licenses” meaning a single license that 
provides for multiple users.  Or does the state desire the ability to obtain multiple single user 
licenses?  If multiple-users, how many users under one license package? 

RESPONSE: Please allow the State to clarify.  The State will have 1,000 users and will be 
purchasing licenses required to allow 1,000 users to access the system.  The State estimates 
that it will have a maximum of 200 concurrent users at peak times.  As a result, the State is 
seeking the most advantageous package of licenses.  That may include named users, 
concurrent users, enterprise licenses etc.  The Offeror shall propose a license package that is 
most advantageous to the State. 

61) [In regard to RFP Section 3.4.6.1 d] One backup per year will be maintained for at least 10 
years.  Is there a specific triggering event, date, or preferred time of year for this backup event? 

RESPONSE: No, not at this time. 

62) [In regard to RFP Section 3.4.6.1 – g] The Contractor shall perform a backup recovery at least 
semi-annually.  Does the State want this test to be recovery of prior data into production, a 
production like environment, or is it simply an exercise of the ability to find a specific backup and 
practice for a recovery scenario? If recovery of data to a production environment, does any 
downtime associated with performing this test/recovery action count against SLA metrics? 

RESPONSE: It is an exercise of the ability to restore a backup for a recovery scenario.  It 
does not affect production so it will not affect SLA metrics. 

 

63) [In regard to RFP Section 3.5.1.10 – 5] Exporting of reports or graphs to other tools such as 
Microsoft Office for further refinement or editing.  Which formats are expected to be supported, 
e.g., only Excel spreadsheet files and Word text files, or other MS Office formats or specific 
protocols? 

RESPONSE: The State expects the System to support PDF, Word, Excel and CSV for ad 
hoc exports. 

64) [In regard to RFP Section 3.5.2.1 8] Product Roadmap.  Given that some features on the roadmap 
may be unique intellectual property the revelation of which could compromise future competitive 
advantage can the Roadmap be marked as proprietary information?  If not the whole map, can 
specific future features or capabilities be marked as proprietary? 

RESPONSE: Yes, the product Roadmap may be marked as proprietary information.   

65) [In regard to RFP Section 3.5.2.3 4 – 4] System Documentation (a) – Applicable SDLC required 
documents.  Is the State directing use of the “COTS Product Single Release Project” lifecycle for 
this project or may the Offeror select one of the alternate methodologies? 
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RESPONSE: "COTS Product Single Release Project" seems the most appropriate.  If 
using an alternate methodology, then please justify this decision. 

66) [In regard to RFP Section 3.15.1] what PII, PHI, or Sensitive Data does the State expect will be 
included as part of or recorded in the EBS system? 

RESPONSE: The State expects that much of the data in the system will be classified as 
confidential-privileged, as defined on page 10 of the RFP.  EBS does not have PHI and most 
likely no PII.  The system will likely have employee names, but that name is not associated 
with any other sensitive data such an birthdates, addresses or SSN. 

67) The RFP specifies minimum qualifications including 3 recent enterprise budgeting implementations 
for enterprises with more than 20,000 employees. At least one of these is to be public sector.  While 
the number of employees is a useful proxy for scale of the enterprise, we feel it does not reflect the 
unique complexities and nuances of budgeting within government entities. The State may be 
offered references with the requisite number of employees however, if these are large commercial 
sites, the solutions may not be purpose built to provide the required functionality for requirements 
which are important to the State such as Personnel Budget Management and Workflow. From our 
experience over 25+ years, these types of processes in Government are much more detailed and 
sophisticated than in the commercial sector. To ensure that the State is best able to consider like-
for-like reference sites, will the State consider revising the minimum qualifications to demonstrate 
implementation of at least 2 preferably 3 State or Federal Government budgeting applications. This 
would ensure the State can reference comparable enterprise size together with comparable business 
processes. 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Question #3. 

68) As this is a very complex RFP would the State consider extending the due date two weeks in order 
to provide more time to adequately prepare a response. 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Question #21. 

69) Does the organization required for the Public Sector reference with over 20,000 employees need to 
be located within the United States? 

RESPONSE: Yes. 

70) In the General section the RFP states “Ability to have different fiscal year for specific agencies, 
programs or fund sources”.  a. Is it possible to get an understanding of how many different fiscal 
years exist and which of these are being uniquely tracked and reported in the application? 

RESPONSE: The State is aware of three different fiscal years that are relevant: The 
State's fiscal year ends June 30, the federal fiscal year ends September 30 and some agencies 
or programs end with the calendar year on December 31. 
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71) In the General section the RFP states “Ability to track actual expenditures at the same level of 
granularity as the budget”.  a. Actuals are being recorded in the various ERP/GL solutions and this 
controls the level of granularity that they can be tracked b. Budget application allows users to 
budget at the dimension level and then a level of granularity lower than this with line item detail 
capabilities. c. Taking into account this variation how would one answer this question? 

RESPONSE: If the proposed solution is able to track both actuals and budget at the sub-
object level, then it meets this requirement.  If the proposed solution limits actuals at the 
object, sub-program or program level then it does not meet this requirement. The fact that 
individual line items can be further detailed by worksheets or transaction-level detail does not 
impact this requirement. 

72) In the Scenario and What If Analysis section the RFP states “Ability to convert a "deficiency" to an 
"amendment" and vice versa”.  Can you elaborate what the state defines to be a deficiency and an 
amendment and what the conversion process between the two entails from a process or order of 
operations perspective? 

RESPONSE: A deficiency and a budget amendment both change an appropriation for the 
current year. For example, an agency may have received an additional grant (either Special 
or Federal funds) and needs to establish an appropriation to accommodate the new funds.  A 
budget amendment is a transaction that occurs any time during the fiscal year.  
 
A deficiency is included in the budget bill for the following year and must be approved by the 
Legislature as part of the budget bill. Funds appropriated via a deficiency become available 
upon enactment of that budget bill. Additional General Funds (not appropriated in the 
current year) must be requested via a deficiency. Budget amendments (non-General Fund) 
are sometimes transformed into deficiencies in order to reduce the number of paper and 
manual transactions between December and April. Those deficiencies (originally submitted as 
amendments) would not become effective until the budget bill enactment. 

73) In the personnel budget management section the RFP states “Ability for multiple employees to be 
assigned to a single position record at the same time”.  Can you expand on what this means to the 
budget process?  Does this mean that multiple employees can be assigned to a P&L line item on the 
budget? Or this this something different for the state? 

RESPONSE: A position can have multiple incumbents.  For example, there is one position 
for "PIN 1234, Budget Analyst IV" but both Dick and Jane are currently in that position.  
Dick may be retiring in July and Jane will be hired in January to train with Dick.  The budget 
system needs to calculate the salary budget correctly.  In addition, a line item can have dozens 
or even hundreds of positions tied to it. 

74) In the personnel budget management section the RFP states “Ability to determine grade and step for 
vacancies”. Can you define what the state sees as grade and step in the budget process? 

RESPONSE: The grade and step determines the cost of filling the position.  The grade is 
based on the qualifications for the position.  The steps are ranges of salaries within the 
grade.  See websites: http://dbm.maryland.gov/employees/Pages/SalaryInformation.aspx.   
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http://www.dbm.maryland.gov/employees/Pages/SalaryPlan.aspx 

75) In the Reporting and publication section the RFP states “Ability to establish and support user-
defined workflows for formal publication processes including but not limited to the initial draft, 
review, comment, revision, re- review, approval-to-publish and publish process steps”. Are these 
pre-define approval process or ad hoc on the fly determine process approval requirements? 

RESPONSE: These publication workflow requirements often change each year. The 
changes may be known by December, but sometimes changes occur between December and 
January. 

76) In the notification and workflow section the RFP states “Ability to define service levels, time limits, 
deadlines and escalation procedures on workflow steps”.  Can you provide some examples to help 
clarify this requirement? 

RESPONSE: For some amendments there is a mandated 45-day review period in the 
legislature.  This workflow step would be set at 45 and, if no other action is taken, the next 
step starts on day 46.  In addition, an agency may choose to give the unit manager 10 days to 
review and approve their budget proposal. If the unit manager does not approve their budget 
in those 10 days, the approval workflow escalates to the agency Secretary. 

77) In the Interfaces section the RFP states “Ability to drill into financial and human capital 
management systems and/or data for additional details without the need to separately login and 
fully navigate the source system (e.g., ability to see individual general ledger transactions that 
contribute to actual expenditures)”.  Can you validate that the state will have read access to these 
various source systems or a data staging repository that will hold this data during the budget cycle? 

RESPONSE: The EBS system will not have direct access to any of the source systems.  
However, the source systems will provide all data required.  It is up to the Offeror to create a 
staging repository if the solution cannot otherwise store this data. 

78) Please release Functional/Technical Matrix in Word or Excel Format.  It has been very difficult to 
extract the functional/technical matrices in order to respond. We would greatly appreciate your help 
here. 

RESPONSE: This matrix will be released in Word format in conjunction with Amendment 
#1. 

79) Please consider making the following minimum requirements more lenient. Offeror capabilities: 
The Offeror shall have implemented enterprise budgeting systems within the last five (5) years for 
at least three (3) different organizations of significant size. At least one example used as proof must 
be public sector. Note: Subcontractor experience may not be used by Offeror to meet Minimum 
Qualifications. The minimum qualifications must be met by the Offeror/Contractor. The State will 
receive fewer qualified bids if this minimum requirement stays as is. Smaller, but very qualified 
firms may not be able to fulfill a prime role in this bid for various reasons.  Even though some of 
these firms are smaller in size, they have very well qualified references of significant size in the 
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public sector.  These references include States and large municipalities that have used these firms to 
implement their budgeting system.   There is a scenario in which a firm, with the ability to handle 
Maryland’s T&C’s and scope, can prime the project with the help of 1 or 2 other firms that have 
very specific budget system expertise.  The State would benefit from being able to consider these 
responses.  Here are some suggestions to change the minimum requirement while also mitigating 
the State’s risk: If the prime contractor cannot provide 3 significant size budget system references, 
allow the prime contractor to use subcontractor references as long as they are both significant in 
size and in the public sector.  Consider using language that will enable the state to void contracts if 
those subcontractors are “swapped out” at the last minute. [or] The simplest way to solve this is to t 
remove the following requirement: Note: Subcontractor experience may not be used by Offeror to 
meet Minimum Qualifications. The minimum qualifications must be met by the Offeror/Contractor. 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Question #3. 

80) In reference to section 2.1, we would like to request that DOIT alter the minimum requirement that 
the offeror have (3) three enterprise budget system references to the offeror’s team must have (3) 
three references. 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Question #3. 

81) In reference to Attachment W – Requirements Matrix, we would like to request that DOIT release 
Requirements Matrix in Word or Excel Format. 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Question #78. 

82) Will the state use Cornerstone for its learning management tool (for training)?  If so, will the state 
provide the bidder with access and the licenses as needed to utilize the tool? 

RESPONSE: Please do not assume that the Cornerstone environment can be used. 

83) Will the Department of Information Technology provide architectural review of the bidder's 
solution, at key junctures mutually determined by the state and the bidder, to evaluate system 
performance prior to go live? 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Question #17. 

84) Will the state coordinate its agency and entity partners in interface development, testing, and 
validation, or should the bidder price this coordination activity in its solution? 

RESPONSE: Yes, the State will perform this coordination activity. 

85) Can the State provide the chart of account segments for each GL system identified for integration 
(e.g. FMIS, PeopleSoft and SAP)? 

RESPONSE: No, the State cannot provide this information at this time. 
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86) Can the State provide further information as to the mapping needed between each GL system and 
the chart of accounts to be used in the Budget solution? 

RESPONSE: Please see the responses to Questions #40 and #90. 

87) Can the Department please clarify the percentage breakdown regarding the overall scoring between 
the Technical and Financial Proposals.  For example, will the Technical Proposal be weighed at 70 
percent and the Financial Proposal at 30 percent, etc.? 

RESPONSE: Please refer to section 5.5.3 of the RFP for information pertaining to the 
weight of the evaluation.   

88) Since answers to questions will not be posted to Maryland’s eProcurement site until next week, will 
the Department consider granting an extension regarding the proposal submission date to allow 
vendors adequate time to incorporate the Department’s answers into their proposals? 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Question #21. 

89) Does the strategic planning outlook extend 10 years or longer?  Is this different by agency?    How 
does the strategic planning outlook differ based on level of detail from the budget process? 

RESPONSE:  The State's requirements are specific to a 5-year forecast and plan. If the 
Offeror wishes to discuss additional forecasting and strategic planning capabilities, then 
please include this in your response to RFP Section 3.5.1.6.  

90) Can offerors assume that the chart account structure for each agency will be the source for 
integration including metadata hierarchies, GL and HR source data, project and capital costing 
data?  Do all financial data systems/sources use the same chart of accounts? 

RESPONSE: Yes with the exception that the State is requesting an interface, not 
integration.  In regard to the second question, yes with the caveat that some agencies use 
agency sub-objects that will not be consistent across agencies.  A mapping table between the 
agency sub-object and the related comptroller sub-objects will be available from FMIS. 

91) Please describe the overall State-wide funding setup and monitoring with supporting data 
sources.  Please describe funding setup and monitoring differences for the agencies. 

RESPONSE: The State expects the contractor to be familiar with public sector budgeting. 
The Legislative Handbook Series, 2014, has a volume on Revenue and a volume on 
Maryland's Budget Process.  See the following links: 
http://mgaleg.maryland.gov/webmga/frm1st.aspx?tab=home 
http://www.dbm.maryland.gov/budget/Documents/operbudget/2017-instructions/Sect1-04.pdf   

92) Does the State have a State-wide documented list of rates and drivers for positions, Capital and 
Operating by agency.  Will this documentation need to be created? 
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RESPONSE: Documentation for the Operating Budget rates and factors differs by agency 
and is not consolidated into one document.  The Capital Budget drivers and rates will be 
provided after project kickoff. 

93) Please describe the Maryland State-wide and agency budget seeding of the new year fiscal budget 
process. 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Question #91. 

94) Are salary and benefits calculated consistently by all agencies for position, employee and unions? 

RESPONSE: No.  There are many salary charts that are applicable for different agencies.  
In addition, some agencies have independent salary setting authority.  Benefits also vary 
widely by agency or union.  Please see the following link: 
http://dbm.maryland.gov/budget/Pages/operbudget/OperatingBudgetInstructions.aspx 

95) Are seasonality adjustments and spreads standardized across agencies or decentralized? 

RESPONSE: Decentralized. 

96) Does the State have State-wide budget book reporting and supporting schedules along with agency 
specific budget books and supporting schedules that are decentralized by agency? 

RESPONSE: The scope of this RFP includes the publication of the State-wide books only. 

97) How many users will be trained by role? 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Question #12. 

98) How many resources does the State plan to dedicate to the project by role, agency and department? 

RESPONSE:   The State has 5.5 resources dedicated to the project full time.  OBA 
resources may be made available between February and September each year.   Other state 
agency resources may be able to participate in pre-scheduled events. 

99) Does the State have a State-wide standardized workflow process for budget administration and 
departmental budgeting?   Please share diagrams if possible. 

RESPONSE: The Statewide high-level workflows for the annual operating budget as well 
as two amendment types are included in the RFP as Attachment U. Workflows for the other 
amendment types are available, but very similar in complexity to the two provided. 

100) How many seasonality adjustments or mid-year adjustments are made during the budget fiscal 
year?   How often do the adjustments and recalculations take place? 



  
 
 

 Q&A #1 
DOIT-FY-2016-08: EBS RFP 

Page 17 

RESPONSE: There were roughly 400 amendments in fiscal year 2014.  All agency budgets 
are on a yearly basis.  Some agencies budget on a monthly basis and may make adjustments at 
any time as long as the annual total does not change. 

101) How is fund setup and full fund planning different in the annual cycle for each scenario by agency?    
i.Annual budget; ii. Quarterly projections; iii. 5 year long range plan 

RESPONSE: Fund type totals have the same annual cycle for reporting purposes.  
However, individual fund sources may have different cycles (e.g.. most federal grants follow 
the federal fiscal year). 

102) The RFP states a MBE Subcontracting Goal of 15%, and a VSBE Subcontracting Goal of 0.5%..  
Following the implementation phase of the replacement Budgeting System project, most if not all 
pricing is subscription based.  Therefore, it is not feasible, without adding additional unrequired 
services and raising costs to the State, to include MBE/VSBE participation.  Please confirm that the 
MBE/VSBE subcontracting goals applies to implementation only, or total contract value minus 
subscription fees. 

RESPONSE:   The MBE/VSBE subcontracting goals apply to the total contract value.  An 
Offeror must either propose the MBE/VSBE subcontractors that it will use to meet the goal 
or it must request a waiver of a portion or the entire goal when it submits a proposal. 

103) The RFP states a go live date of May 1, 2017 (the agreed-to implementation date).  What is the 
implicit start date for the project from which the vendors can calculate the total length of the 
project? What is the anticipated award date? 

RESPONSE: The State has assumed that the implicit start date for the project will be 
March 1, 2016, but that date is not binding on the State.  

104) [In regard to RFP Section 3.3.4] Item 8 states “Provide support for external security and penetration 
testing.”  Please provide clarity and specificity as to the State’s requirements for this item. 

RESPONSE: The State intends to contract with a separate company to perform 
penetration and/or security testing.  The State expects the EBS vendor to support the 
penetration/security testing as well as remediate any deficiencies. 

105) [In regard to RFP Section 3.3.4] Item 9 requests” support for location-specific client or network 
configuration and troubleshooting during development, testing and the first budget cycle.” How 
many physical locations does the State anticipate the Contractor supporting? Would the contractor 
be expected to facilitate trouble shooting of network performance among buildings on a higher 
education campus or similar multi-building agency site or support just the primary connection of 
the campus or site to the State’s network? 

RESPONSE: The contractor will be expected to participate in triaging network or 
application-performance related issues. 
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106) [In regard to RFP Section 3.3.5] Please confirm and/or provide the Sizing Information in the table:  
Number of active employees in the system? The number of active employees in the organization 
including full time, part time, contractors, and temporary. 

RESPONSE: There are about 80,000 positions defined in the various personnel systems, 
including permanent and contractual employees.  This does not include contractors. 

107) [In regard to RFP Section 3.3.5] Please confirm and/or provide the Sizing Information in the table: 
What is the maximum number of employees in a salary projection? Active employee in the 
organization/agency. 

RESPONSE: State-wide COLA projections would include all employees. 

108) [In regard to RFP Section 3.3.5] Please confirm and/or provide the Sizing Information in the table: 
What is the percentage of non-heavy users do you expect to be using the system concurrently? Not 
all users are logged in all time, and even when they are they are not always actively using the 
system. 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Question #60. 

109) [In regard to RFP Section 3.3.5] Please confirm and/or provide the Sizing Information in the table: 
How many non-production environments (Development, Testing, Training, Conversion / Upgrade) 
should be maintained? Default is 4. (Development, Testing, Training, Conversion/Upgrade) 

RESPONSE: Please see section 3.5.2.3, paragraph 1, of the RFP. 

110) [In regard to RFP Section 3.3.5] Please confirm and/or provide the Sizing Information in the table: 
How many full size copies of the production database would be kept in the non-production 
(Development, Testing, Training, Conversion / Upgrade) environments? Non-Production 
environments requiring full production databases for (Testing, Training etc.). [def 1] 

RESPONSE: Please see section 3.5.2.3, paragraph 1, of the RFP. 

111) [In regard to RFP Section 3.3.5] Please confirm and/or provide the Sizing Information in the table: 
What is the estimated annual growth rate of all account elements (%)? Estimated increase or 
decrease of transactions for this module. This value will be used to calculate compounded growth 
rate for a time period. The default is 5%. 

RESPONSE: This question is vague and cannot be answered in its current form. 

112) [In regard to RFP Section 3.3.5] Please confirm and/or provide the Sizing Information in the table: 
Are you looking for a solution to publish the final budget books? 

RESPONSE: Yes. 
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113) What are the current storage requirements to support the State’s current Budgeting System, 
assuming that it supports the project sizing (3.3.5) and Technical Sizing Components (3.5.2.3) 
specified in those respective sections of the RFP? 

RESPONSE: The size of the current system (HOBO) is not comparable.  A significant 
amount of the relevant data is stored in multiple locations outside of HOBO. 

114) What percentage of that data would you expect to be converted to the new Budgeting System?  This 
will help us estimate data storage requirements best suited to the State’s needs. 

RESPONSE: Please see section 3.3.5.2 of the RFP.  All of the existing data will need to be 
converted to the new System. 

115) [In regard to RFP Section 3.3.7] The RFP states “The Contractor needs to be aware that the January 
through April time frame is a busy period for OBA staff and meeting times with OBA subject 
matter experts need to be used effectively.” What level of availability can the OBA staff provide? 

RESPONSE: This section of the RFP was intended to be specific to the initial months of 
the project.  One OBA employee will be available full time and other OBA analysts will be 
available as needed. 

116) [In regard to RFP Section 3.4.1] The RFP requires vendors to comply with several State of 
Maryland Information Technology policies. In multiple cases vendors are directed to find the 
applicable policies by going to the State’s website at www.DoIT.maryland.gov and performing a 
keyword search (“Security Policy” for example). Performing such a search returns multiple results 
which are ambiguous for Offerors attempting to understand which policy documents need to be 
verified for compliance. For example, with the “Security Policy” search, the first three (among 
many) results include links to a page titled “Security Policies and Standards”, a link to a PDF titled 
“Department of Information Technology Security Policy v3.1”, and a link to another separate page 
titled “DoIT Security Policies”.  Please clarify the specific URL locations of the applicable State 
policies so that Offerors can accurately verify policy compliance. 

RESPONSE: Please see the following website for the Security Policy:   
http://doit.maryland.gov/Publications/DoITSecurityPolicy.pdf 

117) [In regard to RFP Section 3.4.2] Does the State expect the Contractor’s staff to have any specific 
certifications? 

RESPONSE: Required certifications by position are listed in Attachment T 

118) [In regard to RFP Section 3.4.11.2] The RFP states “The Contractor may bill for labor hours 
expended in non-routine traveling beyond the identified 50-mile radius, only if so specified in the 
RFP or work order.” For the purpose of this RFP, is non-routine travel billable? 

RESPONSE:   Please refer to RFP Section 3.4.11.2 for details pertaining to non-routine 
travel. 
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119) [In regard to RFP Section 3.4.5.1] The RFP states, “By responding to this RFP and accepting a 
Contract award, an Offeror specifically agrees that for any software, hardware or hosting service 
that it proposes for use by the State in response to this RFP, the State will have the right to 
purchase from another source, instead of from the selected Offeror.” Offeror solutions deployed as 
SaaS or hosting/managed services will use a leveraged platform and processes necessary to support 
the business application. Please clarify the intent of this requirement for the State to have the right 
to purchase software, hardware, or hosting service, for use by the State, from another source.  Is 
this intended to apply to only a “local” State-site deployment, potentially leveraging the State’s 
Amazon Web-Services contract? 

RESPONSE: This applies to all software packages or hardware components that the State 
is expected to buy.  Software or infrastructure provided by the Offeror as part of a SaaS 
subscription are not visible to the State and, as a result, the State would not have a need to 
procure any software, hardware or hosting service separate from the proposed solution. 

120) [In regard to RFP Section 3.4.6.1] The RFP States, “As part of the software installation and 
configuration the Contractor shall create a backup schedule for all application and configuration 
data that would allow the support staff to restore the application to full operability on suitable 
hardware. The backup shall consist of at least: a. Incremental daily backups, retained for one 
month; b. Full weekly backups, retained for three months; c. Last weekly backup for each month 
maintained for two years; d. One backup per year will be maintained for at least 10 years.; e. The 
weekly backup shall be sent electronically to a facility of the State’s choosing; f. The backups shall 
be encrypted using a shared key; g. The Contractor shall perform a backup recovery at least semi-
annually; h. The Contractor shall support the State’s recovery of a backup set on demand.”  
Backup schedules and processing are typically designed to meet the required Recovery Point 
Objective (RPO).  (The stated RPO requirement is 1 hour or less.)  The backup and retention 
requirements stated exceed what would be typically required to meet the RPO.  Please clarify the 
State’s purpose / need (regulatory, other use… etc.) for each of the specified backup and retention 
requirements listed as they seem to be for purposes other than just system recovery (i.e. meeting 
the RPO). Is the State open to consider less costly options in this area? 

RESPONSE:   No, the State is not open to consider less costly options in this area.  For 
comparison purposes the State requires each vendor to price out the same set of 
requirements. 

121) [In regard to RFP Section 3.5.2.1] Item #4 asks vendors to clearly describe any variable pricing 
components, e.g. service levels in the proposal. How would the State want this described in the 
price proposal?  For example, Disaster Recovery (RTO/RPO) is an important service level 
requirement that has pricing implications.  Does MD want pricing for the RTO/RPO consistent 
with the requirement but additionally an option with the difference in pricing consistent with what 
is seen in other statewide implementations? 

RESPONSE:   Yes, the approach described is acceptable. 

122) [In regard to RFP Section 3.5.2.2] Item 9 states, “… The DR plan shall include processes and 
procedures for ensuring a recovery time objective of 6 hours from notification and a recovery point 
objective of 1 hour or less prior to the outage.” While it is feasible to meet the stated Recovery 
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Time Objective (RTO) of 6 hours and Recovery Point Objective (RPO) of 1 hour or less, this is 
very uncommon for a budgeting solution as it necessitates “hot” DR at notably more cost.  Please 
affirm the stated requirement or if the State will consider less costly RTO and RPO targets more 
in-line with industry norms for the type of system. 

RESPONSE: The stated requirement is affirmed.  Please see the response to Question 
#120. 

123) In Section 3.15.2.2 the RFP states, “The SOC 2 Report shall report on the description of the 
Contractor and/or Subcontractors’ system and controls and the suitability of the design and 
operating effectiveness of controls over the Information Functions and/or Processes relevant to the 
following trust principles: - Security, Availability, and Confidentiality as defined in the 
aforementioned Guidance...”.  In Section 3.15.2.3, the RFP states, “The audit scope of each year’s 
SOC 2 Report may need to be adjusted (including the inclusion or omission of the relevant trust 
services principles of Security, Availability, Confidentiality, Processing Integrity, and Privacy) to 
accommodate any changes to the Contractor’s and/or Subcontractors’ environment since the last 
SOC 2 Report.”  The initial requirement indicates that 3 Trust Principles should be included in the 
audit, while the second requirement stipulates that all 5 Trust Principles may be included. Under a 
fixed-price model for services, Offerors would expect a defined scope for audit activities to 
accurately determine the associated cost.  Please provide additional clarity on the number and 
types of Trust Principles required and how subsequent changes to those requirements will be 
handled. 

RESPONSE: The three trust principles in 3.15.2.2 (Security, Availability, and 
Confidentiality) constitute the scope of the SOC 2 Type II audit report.   

124) The provided price template contains some formatting restrictions that impede data entry, and 
some cells appear to not sum / calculate as expected. Would the State please review the following 
price template restrictions?  Base Contract tab: Column F and Column AQ are locked and not 
visible for data entry; Capital Project Functionality section has cells C72:AT78 locked and data 
cannot be entered if needed; Other Costs section has cells C83:AT86 locked and data cannot be 
entered if needed; Totals in Columns AR and AS are not picking up the correct columns in 
numerous rows. (As examples, should cell AR21 total columns F to AQ and AS61 total columns F 
to AQ?) 

RESPONSE: Columns F and AQ are hidden in order to protect the formulas in AR and 
AS.  No data entry in those columns are required. 

125) The provided price template contains some formatting restrictions that impede data entry, and 
some cells appear to not sum / calculate as expected. Would the State please review the following 
price template restrictions? Option Years tab: Column J is locked and not visible for data entry; 
Capital Project Functionality section has cells C72:M78 locked and data cannot be entered if 
needed; Other Costs section has cells C83:M86 locked and data cannot be entered if needed; Totals 
in Columns K and L are not picking up the correct columns in numerous rows. (As examples, 
should the cells K21:K25 and K41:K45 total columns F to J?); Missing formulas in AR23:25 and 
AR43:46. 
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RESPONSE: Column J is protected on purpose.  Other areas have been corrected and may 
be found in the price sheet as revised by Amendment #1. 

126) The provided price template contains some formatting restrictions that impede data entry, and 
some cells appear to not sum / calculate as expected. Would the State please review the following 
price template restrictions? Optional tab – Column A and B do not permit data entry if required; 
All tabs – if additional rows are needed, the template allows adding rows but it does not enable 
updating the total columns in each tab.  Please confirm that all data currently in the template with 
respect to cost data descriptions and numbers assumed to be Sample data and can be overwritten? 

RESPONSE:   Please see Amendment #1 for the revised price sheet.  Also, all sample data 
may be removed from the price sheet. 

For all tabs, the totals column for new rows are not required.  The grand total is based on the 
sum of the rows, not the sum of the columns. 

127) In Attachment W, section 15.15 “Ability to support system recoverability”, the RFP states: 15.15 
Ability to support system recoverability is required; 15.15.1 Ability to return the system to 
operational status following an outage in four (4) hours during normal business conditions is 
required; 15.15.2 Ability to restore the system to operational status in one (1) hour should there be 
an outage during budget request preparation season (August-Jan) is desired; 15.15.3 Ability to 
restore the system to operational status in one (1) hour should there be an outage during fiscal year 
close (June-Aug) is desired; 15.16 Ability to maintain data currency (i.e. restore data to a point in 
time such that it is current as of the time of any system outage when an outage occurs) is required.  
The recovery points in these requirements are different than those for the Disaster Recovery RTO 
and RPO requirements (e.g. 15.15.1 RTO of 4 hours – and DR RTO of 6 hours).  Please provide 
clarification and further description of the State’s intent. 

RESPONSE: Please see the response to Questions #120 and 122.  The RPO of 1 hour is 
confirmed.  The DR RTO of 6 hours is also confirmed.  The capability of lowering the RTO 
during 'budget season' is desired, but not required. 

128) At the bidder’s conference, the State indicated there was flexibility on adding rows to the excel 
spreadsheet and that vendor’s were encouraged to add rows in the Other Costs category on the 
Base Contract Tab, and/or add rows to the Optional Items Tab which were characterized as “Nice 
to have”.  In the best interest of MD, there are a handful of requirements that drive the price of the 
solution higher and are not the norm for what we see in other statewide budgeting solutions.  Can 
these requirements be marked as optional with the associated pricing impact (+ or -) on the 
“Optional Items” tab of the price proposal?  Please confirm what was stated at the pre-bid 
conference. 

RESPONSE: The first sentence does not accurately reflect what was communicated at the 
pre-proposal conference.  An Offeror may add rows to the existing sections; however it 
cannot add new sections. 
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Further, requirements cannot be marked as 'optional' by the bidder.  All items that are 
considered optional have already been included in the "Optional" tab on the price sheet, and 
no additional items may be added. 

If an Offeror wants to highlight items that "are not the norm in other statewide budgeting 
solutions", it is encouraged to do so in the technical approach only. 

129) At the bidder’s conference, the State indicated that, if the vendor offered subscription pricing, there 
was not a requirement to provide a detailed breakdown of hardware and software line items.  
Please confirm what was stated at the pre-bid conference. 

RESPONSE: The price sheet must include all items that the Offeror expects the State to 
pay for.  If the subscription pricing includes all the hardware and software required to 
operate the solution, then no separate line items for those sections are required. 

 

Thank you, 

Michael Meinl 
Procurement Officer 

 

End of Question and Answer # 1 


